
Goshen Common Council 
6:00 p.m. July 20, 2021 Regular Meeting 

Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 

Call to Order by Mayor Jeremy Stutsman 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll: Megan Eichorn (District 4) Julia King (At-Large)  Jim McKee (District 1) 

Doug Nisley (District 2) Gilberto Pérez, Jr. (District 5)     Matt Schrock (District 3) 

Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large)    Youth Advisor Adrian Mora (Non-voting) 

Approval of Minutes – July 6, 2021 

Approval of Meeting Agenda  

Privilege of the Floor 

I. Resolution 2021-25 Fiscal plan for County Road 36 Annexation 

II. Ordinance 5090 County Road 36 Annexation (2nd Reading) 

III. Public Hearing – Ord. 5092  Additional Appropriations for the 2021 Budget

IV. Ordinance 5092 Additional Appropriations for the 2021 Budget (1st/2nd Readings) 

Elected Official Reports 

Adjournment 

Goslten 
THE MAPLE CITY • 



   1 | P a g e  
July 6, 2021 Board of Works Minutes 

 

Minutes of the Common Council Regular Meeting of July 6, 2021 
6:00 p.m. Council Chambers, Police & Court Building, 111 East Jefferson Street, Goshen, Indiana 

Mayor Jeremy Stutsman called the meeting to order and led in the Pledge of Allegiance 

Present: Megan Eichorn (District 4), Julia King (At-Large), Jim McKee (District 1), 

Doug Nisley (District 2), Matt Schrock (District 3),  

Council President Brett Weddell (At-Large) 

Absent: Gilberto Perez, Jr. (District 5), Youth Advisor Adrian Mora (Non-voting) 

Minutes of July 7, 2020, August 4, 2020, August 18, 2020, November 17,2020, December 7, 2020, June 1, 
2021 and June 15, 2021 were presented. 

King/Eichorn moved to accept the minutes as presented. Passed 6-0 

Mayor Stutsman suggested changing the order of Items #4&5 with Items #1&2. 

Weddell//Eichorn moved to approve the agenda as amended. Passed 6-0 

Privilege of the Floor 

No one spoke. 

Public Hearing Ordinance 5089: Vacation of Public Ways in the City of Goshen, Indiana 

No one spoke 

Ordinance 5089: Vacation of Public Ways in the City of Goshen, Indiana 

Weddell/Nisley moved for passage of Ordinance 5089 on 1st Reading.  

Planning and Zoning Administrator Rhonda Yoder presented the Ordinance. 

Goslten 
THE MAPLE Cl-TY .. 



   2 | P a g e  
July 6, 2021 Board of Works Minutes 

Hutsell provided background on the subdivision as it was likely never constructed or used. Stated LaCasa 
is the current owner of the property and plans to build a new house. 

Voice Vote to pass Ordinance 5089 on 1st Reading. Passed 6-0 

Weddell/Nisley moved for passage of Ordinance 5089 on 2nd and Final Reading. 

Voice Vote to pass Ordinance 5089 on 2nd and Final Reading. Passed 6-0 

Public Hearing: Public Hearing for the County Road 36 Annexation 

Mayor Stutsman stated due to the fact Council Perez was absent, if need be he would be the deciding vote 
and would vote yes. 

CEO of Keystone RV Jeff Reynolds from Granger, Indiana shared concern regard TIF districts and that 
there are current projects that need to be completed. Also spoke on the increased traffic issues. Added any 
new business is good but must be done in a proper order  

Ted Dowel, Resident, shared concerns with the timing of the project and a proper traffic study must be 
done. Cited excessive traffic and speeding issues.  

Chandler Elementary Teacher Mitch Roads suggested that another RV plant will assist in prioritizing 
diversify Goshen. Also shared concerns with traffic and flood zones. Added the new intermediate school 
recently flooded. 

Goshen resident Marvin Bartel shared concerns on diversity in economy and another recession and added 
TIF district taxes should fund schools. 

Pamela Weishaupt agreed diversity is important and shared concerns with traffic speed around kids and 
her horses.  

Carol Metnisgouth listed issues with developing on TIFs and suggested ending the TIF system. Provided a 
definition of what a TIF is and encouraged growth that would represented Goshen residents. 

Carol Bixler suggested before any decision is made to do a traffic study and spoke on a turn lane to close 
to an intersection. 

Steve Salisbury provided pictures of past floods and asked if that was why the developed land would be 
raised 5-6 feet. Concerned with where the water would go. Also expressed concerns with traffic. 

Goshen resident expressed his concerns with how the council votes and suggested they do not follow laws 
or have the city’s best interest in mind. 

Goslten 
THE MAPLE Cl-TY .. 



   3 | P a g e  
July 6, 2021 Board of Works Minutes 

Keystone RV Chief Operating Officer David Chupp suggested looking at the Lippert Components TIF 
district and borrowing revenue from other TIF districts. Stated TIF districts should be self-funding. Added 
that the Redevelopment Commission holds a lot of power. 

Resolution 2021-25:  Fiscal Plan for County Road 36 Annexation 

Weddell/Nisley moved for passage of Resolution 2021-25. 

Redevelopment Project Manager Becky Hutsell presented Resolution 2021-25. 

Hutsell stated a traffic study is in process, however County Road 31 is not in Goshen’s jurisdiction and if 
the Annexation does not occur, the study will not be finished. Also stated at this time there are no proposed 
developments however a subdivision is a possibility. Hutsell acknowledged that flooding is an issue and a 
goal is to capture the Stormwater in 20 acre retention ponds and release is slowly into the creek when it 
allows. Added that the land must be brought into the City’s jurisdiction first. Hutsell reminded residents that 
this is only a 1st Reading. 

Goshen resident asked if any plans were in place to protect the ground and soil from an possible waste 
contamination. 

Stegellman explained the Level 5 Erosion Control Permit and how it will protect the development. 

Eichorn raised an issue of lack of housing. Hutsell responded that is a known issue.  

Eichorn/King moved to table Resolution 2021-25. Passed 4-3 

Eichorn: Yes 
King:  Yes 
McKee:  No 
Nisley:  No 
Schrock: No 
Weddell: Yes 
Mayor Stutsman: Yes 

Ordinance 5090: County Road 36 Annexation (1st Reading Only) 

Weddell/Nisley moved for passage of Ordinance 5090 on 1st Reading. 

Weddell stated no residential areas in section will be annexed. Weddell stated it is unique that the 
developer is funding a majority of the project and this will encourage smaller business to build on the 
developed land.  

Goslten 
THE MAPLE Cl-TY .. 



   4 | P a g e  
July 6, 2021 Board of Works Minutes 

King expressed that the public input weighs heavy and is not convinced the annexation will bring 
diversification. Added create more homes is important.  

Property Developer Ryan Duaites stated he understands residents’ concerns. Added that 163 acres opens 
room for possibility. Added the traffic study is expected to be done in a few weeks. Stated he did offer to 
purchase homes in the area of the annexation. 

Goshen resident expressed that the constant construction is not what is best for Goshen Residents and 
how traffic is excessively heavy.  

Resident Colin Deckit and Keystone employee agreed that traffic and flooding must be addressed first. 
Added that increased traffic is turning away possible developers.  

Hutsell stated the traffic study is due to be done by the end of the month.  

Discussion on future possibilities of the development and TIF districts continued. 

Mayor Stutsman added that no full flood design or traffic study will be completed unless the project moves 
forward due to the cost of the study.  

Stegelmann stated the 2nd reading must be 14 days after the 1st if the Council were to table the ordinance 
to a later meeting.  

Voice Vote to pass Ordinance 5090 on 1st Reading. Passed 4-1, 1 Pass 

Eichorn: Pass 
King: No 
McKee: Yes 
Nisley: Yes 
Schrock: Yes 
Weddell: Yes 

Ordinance 5091: An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Goshen, Indiana, Relating to 
Proactive Investigative Funds 

Weddell/Eichorn moved for passage of Ordinance 5091 on 1st Reading. 

City Attorney Bodie Stegelmann explained Ordinance 5091 designated a new item. 

Chief of Police Jose’ Miller explained how this ordinance would assist the Goshen Police Department 

Voice Vote to pass Ordinance 5091 on 1st Reading. Passed 6-0 

Goslten 
THE MAPLE Cl-TY .. 



   5 | P a g e  
July 6, 2021 Board of Works Minutes 

Weddell/McKee moved for passage on 2nd and Final Reading. 

Voice Vote to pass Ordinance 5091 on 2nd and Final Reading. Passed 6-0 

Resolution 2021-19: City of Goshen Government Operations Climate Action Plan 

Weddell/King moved for passage of Resolution 2021-19. 

Weddell thanked the local youth for their work and suppling information to the public. 

Mayor Stutsman reminded residents that the Climate Action Plan will be a living document and change as 
technology changes. 

Environmental Resilience Director Aaron Sawatsky-Kingsley shared data collected on the carbon monoxide 
emissions the city emits.  

Eichorn expressed concern on voting on this subject when the Annexation previously discussed would cut 
down numerous trees. Expressed she was excited for this plan. 

Abby Cardy, Katie Batson, Asia Adkins, Ashley Garcia, Ariana Perez Jr., and Jamie Webb, local youth 
advisors and Goshen residents, shared the work they have put in and ways the plan can improve Goshen. 
Shared strategy and information they have gathered and goals for the future 

Residents shared concerns on if this plan would negatively affect the Police Department, prevent flooding, 
and contradictions related to the Annexation. Also expressed concern on waste produced from the energy 
saving products. 

Weddell explained that the plan currently affects City operations only. If the plan is successful, local 
residents and businesses can be shown ways to change.  

Voice Vote to pass Resolution 2021-19. Passed 6-0 

. 

Elected Official Reports 

King: Disc golf opening. 

Weddell: Traffic emissions and speeding and no Redevelopment meeting. 

Nisley: No recent Aviation meeting, no hint at secret information. 

Schrock: Park Board Meeting, Allan Kauffman Park renamed to Mill Street Park at the request of Allan 
Kauffman. Chamberlain Neighborhood Association and East Goshen Neighborhood Association events. 

Goslten 
THE MAPLE Cl-TY .. 



   6 | P a g e  
July 6, 2021 Board of Works Minutes 

Mayor Stutsman: Discussed issues with purchasing vehicles this year for the 2022 and 2023 budget years. 
Estimated amount is $1.5 million and will be put towards purchasing 5 new cruisers for the Police 
Department, 2 snow plows and other vehicles for various departments. 

Nisley/Eichorn moved to adjourn. Passed 6-0 

Meeting Adjourned 8:09 p.m. 

APPROVED: __________________________________ 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor of Goshen 

ATTEST: __________________________________ 

Richard R. Aguirre, Goshen City Clerk-Treasurer 

Goslten 
THE MAPLE Cl-TY .. 



COUNCIL RESOLUTION 2021-25 

Fiscal Plan for County Road 36 Annexation 

WHEREAS the Goshen Common Council proposes to annex to the City of Goshen the real estate generally 
located on the north and south side of County Road 36, west of County Road 31 and east of the railroad. 
This area is identified as the “County Road 36 Annexation Area”; and 

WHEREAS pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-4-3-3.1, the city has developed a written fiscal plan establishing 
a definite policy to provide city services to the County Road 36 Annexation Area, a copy of which is 
attached to this resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Goshen Common Council approves and adopts the 
Fiscal Plan for the County Road 36 Annexation Area attached to and made a part of this resolution. 

PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on July _____, 2021. 

Presiding Officer 

Attest: 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on July _____, 2021, at ________ a.m./p.m. 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on July _____, 2021. 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 



 

1 

Fiscal Plan for County Road 36 Annexation 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
The fiscal plan documents the municipal services the City of Goshen will deliver to the County Road 36 
Annexation Area (“Annexation Area”), when the Annexation Area will start to receive the municipal 
services, and the city's capacity to deliver those municipal services to the Annexation Area.  The fiscal plan 
provides cost estimates for the services and infrastructure to be furnished to the Annexation Area, together 
with the methods of financing the costs for the services and infrastructure. 
 
The Annexation Area is covered by a Development Agreement with Last Dance, LLC (Last Dance) dated 
June 16, 2021.  A copy of the Development Agreement is attached as Exhibit F.  This agreement includes 
a waiver by Last Dance and any successor in interest to Last Dance’s right to remonstrate against the 
annexation of the real estate into the City of Goshen.  This waiver applies to all tracts of real estate within 
the Annexation Area. 
 
The property owners of all real estate within the Annexation Area have submitted a Petition for Annexation 
into the City of Goshen and requested the Goshen Common Council adopt an ordinance to annex the real 
estate.  This annexation is proceeding under the provisions of Indiana Code § 36-4-3-5.1. 
 
The effective date of the annexation of the real estate will be thirty (30) days after the adoption of the 
annexation ordinance, publication of the notice of adoption, and upon the filing and recording of the 
ordinance pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-4-3-22(a). 
 
 

ANNEXATION AREA 
 
Location, Description, Size and Contiguity 
 
The Annexation Area is generally located along both the north and south sides of County Road 36, west of 
County Road 31 and east of the railroad.  This area is depicted on the map attached as Exhibit A, and more 
particularly described in Exhibit B.  The Annexation Area is approximately 163 acres, and consists of the 
five parcels of real estate listed in Exhibit D.  The Annexation Area also includes any public highway and 
rights-of-way of the public highway that are contiguous to the real estate depicted in Exhibit A and 
described in Exhibit B to the extent required by Indiana Code § 36-4-3-2.5. 
 
Approximately 36% of the aggregate external boundaries of the Annexation Area are contiguous with the 
corporate boundaries of the City of Goshen. 
 
Land Use and Demographics 
 
The Annexation Area consists of undeveloped agricultural real estate with no population.  The real estate 
is planned to be developed as an industrial land use. 
 
The Annexation Area is currently under the planning and zoning jurisdiction of Elkhart County.  The area 
is zoned A1C Agricultural District.  Upon annexation into the city, the Annexation Area will be zoned as 
M-1 Industrial District (Light Industrial). 
 
  



 

2 

Assessed Valuation 
 
The current assessed valuation of all real estate in the Annexation Area (as of January 1, 2021 ) is included 
in the parcel information set forth in Exhibit D.  The total assessed valuation is $202,900.  Once 
development occurs on the real estate, the assessed valuation will increase significantly. 
 
Tax Rates and Estimated Tax Bill  
 
The 2020 pay 2021 Elkhart County gross tax rates for Elkhart Township and Goshen City, Elkhart 
Township are set forth in Exhibit C.  The 2020 pay 2021 Goshen City, Elkhart Township tax rate is $3.6811 
per $100 of assessed valuation, of which $1.4657 per $100 of assessed valuation is the City of Goshen's tax 
rate. 
 
The estimated change in a tax bill following the effective date of annexation is set forth in Exhibit E. 
 
Tax Abatements 
 
There are no property tax abatements adopted under Indiana Code § 36-4-3-8.5 for the Annexation Area. 
 
Township Debt 
 
The Annexation Area is part of Elkhart Township.  To the extent required by Indiana Code § 36-4-3-10, 
the city is liable for any indebtedness of Elkhart Township in the same ratio as the assessed valuation of the 
property in the Annexation Area bears to the assessed valuation of all property in Elkhart Township as 
shown by the most recent assessment for taxation before the annexation.  It is not believed that Elkhart 
Township has indebtedness for which the assessed property in the city is not already liable; however, if this 
assumption is incorrect, the city will fulfill its statutory obligation. 
 
Common Council District 
 
The Annexation Area will be assigned to Goshen Common Council District Five. 
 
 

MUNICIPAL SERVICES 
 
The following information includes the municipal services that will be provided to the Annexation Area.  
This section also includes the plan for the organization and extension of these services, the estimated costs 
to the city to provide the services, and the methods of financing the planned services. 
 
The city is committed to providing municipal services to the Annexation Area in the same manner and 
scope as those services are provided to other areas of the city of a similar nature.   
 
Capital services, such as public streets, sewer mains, and water mains and stormwater retention will be 
provided as detailed in the Development Agreement.  Noncapital services, such as police protection, fire 
protection, and street and road maintenance will be provided to the Annexation Area within ninety (90) 
days of the effective date of annexation. 
 
Street Improvements and Maintenance 
 
This Annexation Area will add approximately one-quarter mile (1,321 feet) of County Road 36 to the city's 
street system and less than a mile of new streets within the annexation area. 



 

3 

 
The street improvements will be paid from bond proceeds issued by City of Goshen and purchased by the 
Developer.  The bond proceeds will be used to construct new public streets and install traffic control 
devices, but there will be no capital cost to the city from existing funding sources for the street 
improvements in the annexation area. The funding for the new improvements will be generated only by 
new TIF revenues.  Since the streets will be new, no significant maintenance within the first four years of 
the annexation is likely.  The bond is to be paid solely by TIF revenues generated by new buildings 
constructed in the annexation area.   
 
The estimated annual maintenance cost of providing services to the Annexation Area is based the additional 
street centerline miles in the Annexation Area multiplied by the Street Department's average annual cost 
per mile to provide service.  The city's approximate annual cost to provide street maintenance services is 
$23,740 per mile.  The estimated annual maintenance cost to the Annexation Area is $5,935 except that 
since the new street improvements will be new or newly repaired the average cost for the next four (4) years 
will likely be substantially below the projected cost.  
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Maintenance Cost: ........................................$5,935 
 
Sidewalks 
 
Any public sidewalks to be added within the Annexation Area will be paid from bond proceeds issued by 
the City of Goshen and purchased by Developer.  The bond is to be paid by solely from TIF revenues 
generated by the new buildings constructed in the annexation area. 
 
Since any sidewalks will be new construction, no maintenance within the first four years of the annexation 
is likely. 
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Maintenance Cost: .............................................. $0 
 
Water and Sewer Mains 
 

Public Water Mains.  The public water mains will be extended from their current location on 
College Avenue east to County Road 31, south to County Road 38 and west to tie in to the existing water 
main at Century Drive. This portion of the public water mains will be paid from existing TIF funding from 
the Southeast Consolidated TIF. A separate public water main loop will be constructed within the 
development west of the parcels to be annexed on the north side of County Road 36 and these public water 
mains will be paid from bonds to be solely funded from new TIF funds generated by the proposed project 
or from Last Dance. 
 
Any building water lines required to connect any building to the public water main will be constructed at 
the sole expense of Last Dance. 
 
The maintenance of the public water mains and public fire hydrants will be the responsibility of the Water  
and Sewer Department.  Any maintenance that may be required will be paid from the water revenues 
generated from user fees. 
 

Public Sewer Mains.  The public sewer mains will be extended from their current location on 
College Avenue to the east boundary of the Annexation Area.  Sewer mains along College Avenue will be 
funded by bond proceeds which will be repaid solely from new TIF revenues generated by the new 



 

4 

development west of the parcels to be annexed on the north side of County Road 36 or from the Developer.  
Any building sewer lines required to connect any building to the public sewer main will be constructed at 
the sole expense of the Developer. 
 
The maintenance of the public sewer mains will be the responsibility of the Water and Sewer Department.  
Any maintenance that may be required will be paid from the sewer revenues generated from user fees.  
Since the water mains are new construction, little maintenance can be expected within the first four (4) 
years. 
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Maintenance Cost: .............................................. $0 
 
Storm Water Drainage 
 
Storm water drainage will be constructed on real estate easements to be established by Last Dance, LLC as 
part of the subdivision process and donated to the City.  The construction of the stormwater retention area 
will be funded by the Southeast Consolidated TIF revenues. 
 
The Storm Water Management Department oversees and enforces the city's storm water ordinances to 
ensure that storm water drainage complies with local, state and federal laws.  There should be no additional 
cost to provide maintenance services to the Annexation Area in the first four (4) years since the stormwater 
retention or detention area is new construction.  
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Maintenance Cost: .............................................. $0 
 
Police Services 
 
The Police Department will provide police services to the Annexation Area within ninety (90) days of the 
effective date of the annexation.  Police patrols, traffic enforcement, detection and apprehension of criminal 
offenders, preservation of public peace and civil order, and emergency responses will be part of the services 
the city will offer to the Annexation Area.  Calls for service are dispatched by the Elkhart County Dispatch 
Center.  Police service and response times to this area can be expected to be comparable and consistent with 
those services provided in other similarly situated areas of the city. 
 
The city does not anticipate any significant need for additional personnel and equipment or an increase in 
annual operating costs to provide police services to the Annexation Area.  The estimated annual operating 
cost of providing police services to the Annexation Area will be based on the additional number of parcels 
in the Annexation Area.  The Police Department's average annual cost per parcel to provide service is $470.  
The estimated annual operating cost to provide police services to the Annexation Area based on five (5) 
additional parcels is $2,350. 
 
The costs of police protection services are paid from the city’s general fund.  Certain capital expenses may 
be paid from the cumulative capital development fund, or the cumulative building, remodeling, and police 
radio equipment fund. 
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Operating Cost: ............................................$2,350 
 
  



 

5 

Fire and Ambulance Services 
 
The Fire Department will provide combined fire protection and ambulance services to the Annexation Area 
within ninety (90) days of the effective date of the annexation.  Fire protection, suppression, inspection and 
prevention services, as well as emergency rescue and ambulance services will be part of the services the 
city will offer to the Annexation Area.  Calls for service are dispatched by the Elkhart County Dispatch 
Center.  The services and response times to the Annexation Area can be expected to be comparable and 
consistent with those service provided in other areas of the city. 
 
The city does not anticipate any significant need for additional personnel and equipment or an increase in 
annual operating costs to provide fire and ambulance services to the Annexation Area.  The estimated 
annual operating cost of providing fire and ambulance services to the Annexation Area will be based on the 
additional number of parcels in the Annexation Area.  The Fire Department's average annual cost per parcel 
to provide service is $430.  The estimated annual operating cost to provide fire and ambulance services to 
the Annexation Area based on five (5) additional parcels is $2,150. 
 
The costs for fire and ambulance services are paid from the city’s general fund and ambulance user fees.  
Certain capital expenses may be paid from the cumulative capital development fund, or the cumulative 
building, remodeling, firefighting radio equipment fund. 
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Operating Cost: ............................................$2,150 
 
Solid Waste Collection and Disposal Services 
 
The city privately contracts to provide solid waste collection and disposal services to residential buildings 
with four (4) or fewer dwelling units per building.  Since the Annexation Area is undeveloped and will be 
non-residential once developed, City will not provide solid waste collection and disposal services to the 
Annexation Area. 
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Service Cost: ...................................................... $0 
 
Parks and Recreation 
 
All residents have access to various city park facilities, such as the swimming pool, bicycle trails, baseball 
diamonds, volleyball courts, pavilions and picnic facilities.  The Parks and Recreation Department also 
provides several other recreational programs and activities throughout the year, some of which are offered 
for a fee.  Some programs, such as day camp and pool admission charge non-residents a slightly higher fee 
than residents.  These services are already available to the Annexation Area.  There will be no additional 
capital cost or operating cost to provide parks and recreation services to the Annexation Area. 
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Operating Cost: .................................................. $0 
 
Administrative Services 
 
All governmental administrative services from the various city departments and offices will be available to 
the Annexation Area upon the effective date of annexation and will be comparable and consistent with 
those services provided to other areas of the city.  Such services include, but are not limited to the Mayor's 
Office, Clerk-Treasurer's Office, Building Department, Planning and Zoning Department, Engineering 



 

6 

Department, Stormwater Management and Code Enforcement.  The estimated annual operating cost of 
providing services to the Annexation Area will be based on the additional number of parcels in the 
Annexation Area.  The city's average annual cost per parcel to provide service is $620.  The estimated 
annual operating cost to provide services to the Annexation Area based on five (5) additional parcels is 
$3,100. 
 
The costs for administrative services will be paid from the city’s general fund, local option income taxes, 
cumulative funds, user fees, and other funds as appropriate. 
 
Estimated Capital Cost: .................................................................... $0 
Estimated Annual Operating Cost: ............................................$3,100 
 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
 
Revenues 
 
Revenues to the City of Goshen change directly because of changes in the assessed valuation that result 
from the annexation, or indirectly because the distribution methods used for particular revenues that take 
into account factors such as share of levy, population, or road mileage.  The change in the city’s property 
tax revenues or levy will affect the distribution of local option income taxes.  The following information 
includes the taxes that will be affected by the proposed annexation. 
 

Property Taxes.  The principal source of revenue for the city is through local property taxes.  
Property tax revenues collected in the current year are based on the assessment of the real estate as of the 
assessment date of the previous year.  Since the effective date of annexation will not be until after the end 
of 2021, the city will not receive any property tax revenues from the Annexation Area until 2023.  No 
significant revenue from property taxes will be realized until the year after construction of the buildings on 
the annexation area.  No increase from real estate taxes can be expected until at least 2024. 
 

Local Option Income Tax.  County-wide local option income taxes are paid by income-earning 
residents of Elkhart County and by individuals who work in Elkhart County and live in a county that has 
not elected to impose any form of local option income tax.  The amount of local option income tax revenues 
the city can expect to receive from the county will not be estimated in this analysis due to the complexity 
of the distribution formula and the county-wide variables that can affect the distribution of these revenues. 
 

Fuel Taxes. The State of Indiana distributes a portion of the revenues collected from the various 
fuel taxes to local units.  Fuel taxes distributed to the motor vehicle highway fund are allocated according 
to a formula based on population, road mileage and vehicle registrations.  Fuel taxes distributed to the local 
roads and streets fund are allocated according to a formula based on population and the ratio of total city 
road mileage to county road mileage.  The amount of fuel tax revenues the city can expect to receive will 
not be estimated in this analysis since the population figures used to determine the distribution are based 
on the 2021 census figures and should have limited impact on the Annexation Area. 
 

Cigarette and Tobacco Products Taxes and Alcoholic Beverage Taxes.  The State of Indiana 
distributes to cities and towns a portion of the cigarette and tobacco products tax revenues collected, as well 
as a portion of the alcoholic beverage tax revenues collected.  This distribution is according to a formula 
that is based on population.  As with revenues received from fuel taxes, the amount of cigarette and tobacco 
products tax revenues and alcoholic beverage tax revenues the city can expect to receive will not be 
estimated in this analysis since the population figures used to determine the distribution are based on the 
2021 census figures. 



 

7 

 
Storm Water User Fees.  An annual storm water user fee is assessed on every residential and non-

residential parcel of real estate within the City of Goshen which directly or indirectly contributes to the 
city’s storm water system.  This user fee, which funds the city’s Storm Water Management Department, 
pays for the regulation, planning, operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, and improvement of the 
city’s existing and future storm water system.  The amount of revenues to be received by the city is 
calculated based on the assigned equivalent residential unit (ERU) for each parcel of real estate containing 
impervious area.  Although the city will receive additional storm water user fees from parcels annexed, the 
amount of storm water user fees the city can expect to receive will not be estimated in this analysis due to 
the complexity of determining the ERU for each non-residential parcel within the Annexation Area. 
 
Expenditures 
 
It is estimated that within the first four years following the effective date of the annexation, the City of 
Goshen will have no capital costs except those costs to be part by existing funds in the Southeast 
Consolidated TIF.   The remaining initial costs are covered by Developer bond proceeds.  No annual 
maintenance/operating costs through 2024 should be included since projects will be new construction.  City 
is committing to use Tax Increment Financing Funds from the Southeast Consolidated TIF to fund the 
construction of storm water retention facilities and water main loop.  These two projects will benefit the 
annexation area and, to a greater extent, other real estate.  
 
Summary and Conclusion 
 
The City will begin providing services to the Annexation Area on or about January 1, 2023. 
 
The estimated cost of providing services to the Annexation Area is minimal. 
 
This City will likely not begin receiving property taxes until at least the 2023 pay 2024 tax year.  It is 
anticipated that the city will receive secondary revenue sources as a result of this annexation. Secondary 
revenue sources such as local option income tax distributions, fuel taxes, cigarette and tobacco products 
taxes and alcoholic beverage taxes, storm water user fees, and any other user fees are not fully reflected in 
this analysis. 
 
In conclusion, essential municipal services can be made available to the Annexation Area, and the City of 
Goshen is physically and financially able to provide those municipal services to the Annexation Area.  The 
annexation of this area is a logical extension of the city’s corporate boundaries, and this area is needed and 
can be used for the continued development and managed growth of the City of Goshen. 



 

8 

EXHIBIT A 
 

Map of County Road 36 Annexation Area 
 

 
  



 

9 

EXHIBIT B 
 

County Road 36 Annexation Area Described 
 
 

TRACT 1 (Parcel Numbers 20-1 l-13-200-005.000-014 and 20-11-13-400-006.000-014) 
 
A PART OF THE NORTHEAST AND SOUTHEAST QUARTERS OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, SURVEYED 
BY RONNIE L. JUSTICE, REGISTRATION NUMBER 80900004, WITH ADVANCED LAND 
SURVEYING OF NORTHERN INDIANA INC., AS SHOWN ON PROJECT NUMBER 201101 
CERTIFIED ON NOVEMBER 3, 2020, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS (BEARINGS IN THIS DESCRIPTION ARE BASED ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 HAVING A BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 
MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST); COMMENCING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITH 
THE EAST LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO RYAN THWAITS AND LARRY 
SCHROCK IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-11865, A DISTANCE OF 320.49 FEET TO 
A #5 REBAR FOUND AT THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE NORTH 
00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITH SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 2327.58 FEET 
TO A THREE QUARTER INCH REBAR FOUND AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 AND BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A 
TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO VERNON AND WANDA SCHLABACH IN ELKHART COUNTY 
DEED RECORD 2017-07742; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 28 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST, 
WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID SCHLABACH LAND, A DISTANCE OF 732.81 FEET TO A THREE 
QUARTER INCH REBAR AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED 
TO DANA L. MILLER IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 93003206; THENCE NORTH 89 
DEGREES 29 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST WITH SAID MILLER LAND, A DISTANCE OF 1607.17 
FEET TO A REBAR; THENCE SOUTH 03 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 28 SECONDS WEST, WITH SAID 
MILLER LAND, A DISTANCE OF 739.44 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP STAMPED BRADS-KO 
ON THE NORTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO SPRINGVIEW LAND HOLDINGS, 
LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2019-06807; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 
MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 247.27 
FEET TO A REBAR; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 25 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 2021.27 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP STAMPED 
PCB AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO MOLAR 
MANAGEMENT, LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-22405; THENCE .SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID LAND, A 
DISTANCE OF 626.09 FEET TO A SURVEY MARK SPIKE ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS WEST, 
ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHEAST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 472.08 FEET TO 
A SURVEY MARK SPIKE AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED 
TO TRI-COUNTY LAND TRUSTEE CORPORATION IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2013-
06108; THIENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 20 MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST WITH THE EAST LINE 
OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 320.49 FEET TO A #5 REBAR AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER 
OF SAID LAND; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 845.97 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF 
THIS DESCRIPTION, CONTAINING 100.36 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
  



 

10 

TRACT 2 (Parcel Numbers 20-11-24-201-001.000-014, 20-11-24-126-011.000-014 and 20-11-24-201-
002.000-014) 
 
PART OF THE NORTHWEST AND NORTHEAST QUARTERS OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, SURVEYED 
BY RONNIE L. JUSTICE, REGISTRATION NUMBER 80900004, WITH ADVANCED LAND 
SURVEYING OF NORTHERN INDIANA INC., AS SHOWN ON PROJECT NUMBER 210101 
CERTIFIED ON JANUARY 7, 2021, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS (BEARINGS IN THIS DESCRIPTION ARE BASED ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24 HAVING A BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 
39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST); BEGINNING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE 
NORTH QUARTER CORNER OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST; THENCE 
NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 1320.73 FEET TO A MAG NAIL 
AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO THE STANLEY D. 
MILLER REVOCABLE TRUST DATED THE 18TH DAY OF JULY 2007; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 25 SECONDS EAST WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID MILLER LAND, A 
DISTANCE OF 1979.96 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP (JUSTICE 900004) ON THE NORTH RIGHT 
OF WAY OF THE NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY; THENCE NORTH 56 DEGREES 
31 MINUTES 53 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY WITH THE NORFOLK 
SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY, A DISTANCE OF 2857.74 FEET TO A REBAR FOUND AT THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO KATHLEEN S. EMERY IN 
ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2014-08913; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 43 MINUTES 38 
SECONDS WEST, WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID EMERY LAND, A DISTANCE OF 164.93 FEET 
TO A REBAR AT THE SOUTHWEST COMER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO DAVID 
AND SARAH LAMBRIGHT IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-05774; THENCE NORTH 
89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE SOUTH 1INE OF SAID LAMBRIGHT 
LAND, THE SOUTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO REESE SCHMUCKER IN 
ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2018-05528 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND 
CONVEYED TO SIX MILE LAKE INVESTMENTS, LLC IN DEED RECORD 2016-13337, A 
DISTANCE OF 314.95 FEET TO A REBAR AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SIX MILE 
LAKE INVESTMENTS, LLC PROPERTY; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 25 
SECONDS WEST, WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 224.93 FEET (225 
FEET RECORDED) TO A MAG NAIL ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 24; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 30 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 729.93 FEET TO THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION, CONTAINING 62.69 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 
 
  



 

11 

EXHIBIT C 
 

2020 Pay 2021 Tax Rates 
per $100 Assessed Valuation 

 

Taxing Unit Elkhart Township 
Goshen City, 

Elkhart Township 

County $0.4495 $0.4394 

Township $0.1470 $0.0152 

School $1.6374 $1.6374 

Library $0.1234 $0.0987 

City $0.0000 $1.4657 

Conservancy District $0.0000 $0.0000 

Gross Tax Rate $2.3573 $3.6811 

 



 

12 

EXHIBIT D 
 

Parcel Information for County Road 36 Annexation Area 
 

Parcel Number Property Address Owner 
1/1/2020 

Assessed Value Waiver 

20-11-13-200-005.000-014 County Road 36, Goshen Ryan Thwaits $32,300 Yes 

20-11-13-400-006.000-014 16379 County Road 36, Goshen Ryan Thwaits $84,600 Yes 

20-11-24-201-001.000-014 County Road 36, Goshen 
Ryan Thwaits & Douglas W Thwaits & 
Nancy L Thwaits 

$61,600 Yes 

20-11-24-126-011.000-014 County Road 36, Goshen 
Ryan Thwaits & Douglas W Thwaits & 
Nancy L Thwaits 

$21,500 Yes 

20-11-24-201-002.000-014 County Road 36, Goshen 
Ryan Thwaits & Douglas W Thwaits & 
Nancy L Thwaits 

$1,600 Yes 

 



 

13 

EXHIBIT E 
 

Estimated Change in Tax Bill 
 
Estimates are provided based on property subject to the 1% tax cap rate (homestead residential), 2% tax cap rate (residential rental, non-homestead 
residential, and agricultural), and 3% tax cap rate (other), and no deductions or local property tax credits were taken into consideration.  (Where a 
parcel is subject to more than one tax cap rate, the primary tax cap rate was used for the entire parcel in the calculations.)  Further, no tax levies for 
projects approved by voters through referendum were taken into consideration.  The actual 2020 pay 2021 tax bill may be more or less. 
 

Parcel Number 
1/1/2020 

Assessed Value 
Tax Cap 

Rate 

Property Tax 
based on 

Tax Cap Rate 

Gross Tax Bill 
based on 
Elkhart 

Township 
Tax Rate 

Gross Tax Bill 
based on 

Goshen City, 
Elkhart 

Township 
Tax Rate 

Estimated Change in 
Tax Bill 

20-11-13-200-005.000-014 $32,300.00 2% $646.00 $761.40 $1,189.00 

No significant change until 
the construction of buildings 
in the annexation area is 
completed 

20-11-13-400-006.000-014 $84,600.00 2% $1,692.00 $1,994.28 $3,114.21 

No significant change until 
the construction of buildings 
in the annexation area is 
completed. 

20-11-24-201-001.000-014 $61,600.00 2% $1,537.00 $1,452.10 $2,267.56 

No significant change until 
the construction of buildings 
in the annexation area is 
completed. 

20-11-24-126-011.000-014 $21,500 2% $430.00 $506.82 $791.44 

No significant change until 
the construction of buildings 
in the annexation area is 
completed. 

20-11-24-201-002.000-014 $1,600 2% $48.00 $37.72 $58.90 

No significant change until 
the construction of buildings 
in the annexation area is 
completed. 



EXHIBIT F

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

2021-15977 

ELKHART COUNTY RECORDER 

JENNIFER L. DORIOT 
FILED FOR RECORD ON 
06/l.6/2021 03:3-4 PM 

AS PRESENTED 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is entered into on U uo.e, } b , 2021, among 

the City of Goshen, Indiana, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State oflndiana, acting 

through the Goshen Common Council and the Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety (collectively, the 

"City of Goshen"), the Goshen Redevelopment Commission (the Goshen Redevelopment Commission and 

the City of Goshen, collectively, the "City"), and Last Dance, LLC (referred to as "Developer"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS this agreement provides for the development of three (3) tracts of real estate in 

accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this agreement. The tracts are identified as Tract 1, 

Tract 2 and Tract 3 on the map attached to this agreement as Exhibit A and more particularly described in 

Exhibit B and hereinafter referred to as "subject real estate." 

WHEREAS the real estate identified as Tract 3 in Exhibits A and B is owned by Ryan Thwaits and 

Larry Schrock, each owning an undivided one-half(½) interest as tenants in common in Tract 3. 

WHEREAS Ryan Thwaits owns the real estate identified as Tract I in Exhibits A and B. Ryan 

Thwaits also owns an undivided one-half(½) interest in the real estate identified as Tract 2 in Exhibits A 

and B together with Douglas W. Thwaits and Nancy L. Thwaits, husband and wife, who own the other 

undivided one-half (½) interest in Tract 2. 

In consideration of mutual covenants contained in this agreement, City and Developer now agree 

as follows: 

AUTHORITY 

This agreement is entered into in accordance with Indiana Code §36-4-3-21. 

05282021 



TERM OF THE AGREEMENT 

The term of this agreement begins upon execution of this agreement by City and Developer and 

upon the agreement's approval by the Goshen Common Council, the Goshen Redevelopment Commission 

and the Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety and ends when City and Developer have fulfilled all 

obligations set forth in this agreement. 

DEVELOPMENT AREA DESCRIBED 

l. This agreement concerns the development of three (3) tracts of real estate consisting of eight (8) 

parcels generally located along College Avenue (County Road 36), east of the railroad tracks and 

west of County Road 31. The tracts are identified as Tract 1, Tract 2 and Tract 3 on the map 

attached to this agreement as Exhibit A, and are more particularly described in Exhibit B. 

2. The real estate identified as Tract 3 in Exhibits A and B consists of three (3) parcels of real estate 

located on the north side of College Avenue/County Road 36 and is currently located within the 

corporate limits of the City of Goshen. This real estate shall be referred to individually as the "Tract 

3 real estate." Ryan Thwaits and Larry Schrock warrant that each owns an undivided one-half(½) 

interest as tenants in common in the Tract 3 real estate. 

3. The real estate identified as Tract 1 in Exhibits A and B consists of two (2) parcels of real estate 

located on the nmth side of College Avenue/County Road 36 and is currently located outside the 

corporate limits of the City of Goshen. This real estate shall be referred to individually as the "Tract 

1 real estate." Ryan Thwaits warrants that he is the owner of the Tract 1 real estate. A Petition for 

Annexation into the City of Goshen has been submitted for the Tract 1 real estate in the f01m 

attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

4. The real estate identified as Tract 2 in Exhibits A and B consists of three (3) parcels ofreal estate 

located on the south side of College Avenue/County Road 36 and is currently located outside the 

corporate limits of the City of Goshen. This real estate shall be referred to individually as the "Tract 

2 real estate." Ryan Thwaits warrants that he owns an undivided one-half(½) interest with Douglas 

W. Thwaits and Nancy L. Th waits, husband and wife, who own the other undivided one-half(½) 

interest as tenants in common in the Tract 2 real estate. A Petition for Annexation into the City of 

Goshen has been submitted for the Tract 2 real estate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C. 

5. For the purposes of this agreement, the Tract 1 real estate, Tract 2 real estate and Tract 3 real estate 

may be collectively referred to as "subject real estate." 

05282021 2 



WATER SERVICES AND WATER BUILDING LINE CONSTRUCTION 

L Developer wi ll pay City's standard water connection fee for each parcel of the subject real estate 

at the time that any building on such parcel is connected to the City's water system. 

2. Developer will design, construct and maintain at Developer's expense any water building line that 

is necessary for the proper connection of any building on the subject real estate to City's water 

main. 

3. Developer will pay City's standard fee for any water building line inspection and for any 

subsequent water connections on any parcel of the subject real estate. 

4 . Developer agrees to provide any proposed plans and specifications for the construction of water 

building lines to City's Engineering Department for review and approval before commencing 

construction of such building lines. 

5. Developer will pay City's standard fees for water meters, meter horns, and any applicable taxes for 

any building constructed on any parcel of the subject real estate. 

6. Once water building lines and water mains are designed and approved for construction, City and 

Developer shall clearly designate which are water building lines and which are water mains. 

Developer shall maintain at Developer's expense all water building lines on the subject real estate. 

City will maintain at City's expense all water mains on the subject real estate. 

WATER MAIN CONSTRUCTION 

1. City agrees to bid, construct and provide the funding for a water main within the City's right-of

way ( existing and to be acquired) of sufficient size to properly provide water to the subject real 

estate. The water main will be constructed along College Avenue (County Road 36) beginning at 

the end of the City's existing water main on College Avenue. The new water main will run under 

the railroad tracks, east to County Road 31, then south on County Road 31 to County Road 3 8, then 

west on County Road 38 connecting to the existing City water main on Century Drive (water main 

project). City agrees to complete the water main project within five hundred forty-five (545) days 

after the needed rights-of-way have been identified. 

2. Other than as set forth below, the City funding for the water main loop will come from tax 

increment financing ("TIF") revenues from the Southeast Allocation Area ("Southeast Allocation 

Area") of the Redevelopment District of the City (the "District"). The amount of City' s funding 

from the Southeast Allocation Area for the water main loop will not exceed Two Million Three 

Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($2,350,000). If the cost estimate for the water main project 

exceeds Two Million Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($2,350,000), the Developer can 

provide a design reducing the size and/or scope of the water main project so the estimated cost is 

05282021 3 



not in excess of Two Million Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($2,350,000). If the cost 

estimate exceeds Two Million Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($2,350,000) and the 

Developer is not able to provide a water main project design so the estimated cost of the modified 

water main project does not exceed Two Million Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars 

($2,350,000), City may terminate this agreement if the water main project exceeds Two Million 

Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($2,350,000) and tbe City provides Developer written 

notice of termination within sixty ( 60) days of City receiving notice of the cost estimate. 

3. Developer agrees to develop plans and specifications for the water main project described in 

paragraph l above. The Developer will pay the cost of the development plans and specifications. 

City will review and approve the proposed design and specifications prior to finalizing the plans 

and specifications. If City does not approve the design and Developer is unwilling to make the 

City's modifications, the agreement will terminate without fiuther action by the parties. 

4. City will commence the bidding process within forty-five (45) days after the plans and 

specifications are finalized. 

5. No building requiring water service may be occupied until Developer has constructed the required 

water building lines to properly service the building at Developer' s expense and City's water main 

extension project is completed. 

6. Developer agrees to donate any rights-of-way or easements necessary to construct or maintain the 

water main to the extent that Developer owns the real estate from which the rights-of-way or 

easements are needed. City will acquire any rights-of-way or easements needed to construct the 

water main loop at City' s expense other than from real estate owned by Developer. 

SEWER SERVICES AND SEWER BUILDING LINE CONSTRUCTION 

1. Developer will pay City's standard sewer connection fee for any parcel of the subject real estate at 

the time that any building on such a parcel is connected to the City's sewer system. 

2. Developer will pay City's standard fee for any sewer building line inspection and for any sewer 

building line connection on any parcel of the subject real estate. 

3. Developer will construct and maintain at Developer' s expense any sewer building line that is 

necessary for the proper connection of any building to City's sewer main. 

4. Developer agrees to provide any proposed plans and specifications for the construction of any 

sewer building lines to City's Engineering Department for review and approval before commencing 

construction of such building lines. 

5. Developer will pay City's standard fee for any meter necessary to properly measure sewer usage. 

05282021 4 



6. Once sewer building lines and sewer mains are designed and approved for construction, City and 

Developer shall clearly designate which are sewer building lines and which are sewer mains. 

Developer shall maintain at Developer's expense all sewer building lines on the subject real estate. 

City will maintain at City' s expense all sewer mains on the subject real estate. 

SEWER MAIN CONSTRUCTION 

I . City agrees to bid, construct and provide the funding for all sewer mains as well as any lift station 

or other appu11enant facilities needed to properly provide sewer service to the subject real estate 

from bond proceeds to be issued by City and purchased by Developer. City agrees to complete the 

sewer main construction within three hundred sixty-five (365) days after the needed rights-of-way 

have been identified. If the bond proceeds are not sufficient to completely fund the sewer main 

and other infrastructure improvements described in this agreement which are to be paid from the 

bond proceeds, the Developer will initially provide the additional funds. City will repay Developer 

for such additional funds from TIF revenues generated solely from the New Allocation Area (as 

defined herein) except as provided in paragraph 9 under Project Funding. 

2. Developer agrees to develop plans and design specifications for all components of the sewer main 

extension. The Developer will pay the costs to develop the plans and design specifications. City 

will review and approve all proposed plans and design specifications prior to finalizing the plans 

and design specifications. If City does not approve the design and Developer is unwilling to make 

the City' s modifications, the agreement will terminate without further action by the parties. 

3. City will commence the bidding process to select a contractor to construct the sewer main within 

forty-five ( 45) days after the plans and design specifications are finalized. 

4. No building requiring sewer service may be occupied until the sewer ·main extension project is 

completed or before Developer has constructed the required sewer building lines to properly service 

any building to connect to City sewer. 

5. Developer agrees to donate any rights-of-way or easements necessary to construct and maintain the 

sewer main to the extent that Developer owns the real estate from which the rights-of-way or 

easements are needed. City will acquire any rights-of-way or easements needed to construct the 

sewer main at City' s expense other than from real estate owned by Developer. 

6. The sewer main constructed in the City's rights-of-way along College Avenue or immediately 

adjacent to the College Avenue rights-of-way will be a public sewer main and will be maintained 

at City's expense. 

05282021 5 



COLLEGE A VENUE IMPROVEMENTS, SIDEWALKS, STORM SEWER 
AND STORMW ATER RETENTION 

1. Except as otherwise designated by the parties after design is completed, the roads within the subject 

real estate will be private roads. As private roads, Developer will be responsible for all costs for 

the construction of such roads and for all maintenance of such roads. 

2. Developer agrees to design at Developer's expense a ten-foot (1 O') sidewalk (the "Sidewalk") 

adjacent to College Avenue (County Road 36) beginning on the east side of the railroad tracks and 

extending to the eastern boundary of the subject real estate. City will review and approve the 

proposed design and plan specifications prior to finalization of the design and plan specifications. 

3. City agrees to bid and construct the Sidewalk at City' s expense. City will also bid, and construct 

curbs and gutters at City's expense for College Avenue (County Road 36) from the railroad tracks 

to the eastern boundary of the subject real estate. 

4. Developer agrees to design, at Developer's expense, flood routing and control and stormwater 

retention, including side ditches, culverts and ponds for the subject real estate which will retain all 

stormwater from a National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Atlas-14 rain 

event. The design plans must be approved by the City Engineer and detennined to be consistent 

with the City of Goshen Storm Water Ordinance. In addition, the stormwater plan and facilities 

constructed must adequately detain stormwater from the real estate north and east of the subject 

real estate which migrates to the subject real estate. 

5. City agrees to construct, at City' s expense, the storm water retention projects described in 

paragraph 4 above in an amount not to exceed Three Million Dollars ($3 ,000,000) from the 

District's Southeast Allocation Area TIF revenues or TIF revenues from a consolidated allocation 

area that includes the current Southeast Allocation Area. The amount of City's funding from the 

Southeast Allocation Area or a consolidated allocation area, including the Southeast Allocation 

Area, for the storm water retention projects will not exceed Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000). If 

the cost estimate for such projects exceed Three Million Dollars ($3 ,000,000), the Developer can 

provide a design reducing the size and/or scope of the storm water retention projects so the 

estimated cost is not in excess of Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) as long as the storm water 

retention projects meet the requirements of paragraph 4 above. If the cost estimate exceeds Three 

Million Dollars ($3,000,000) and the Developer is not able to provide a design so the estimated 

cost of the modified storm water retention projects does not exceed Three Million Dollars 

($3,000,000), City may terminate this agreement if City provides Developer written notice of 

termination within sixty (60) days of City receiving notice of the cost estimate. 

05282021 6 



6. City will commence the bidding process within forty-five (45) days after plans and design 

specifications for the College Avenue improvements, sidewalk, storm sewer and stonnwater 

retention areas are finalized. 

7. Developer agrees to donate any rights-of-way or grant any easements needed from property that 

Developer owns for the College Avenue road and sewer, water and stormwater utility projects. 

Developer specifically agrees to grant City rights-of-way adjacent to College Avenue (County 

Road 36) so that City .has a minimum of forty feet ( 40') of right-of-way measured from the 

centerline of College Avenue (County Road 36). Developer agrees to design the flood routing and 

control and stormwater retention, including side ditches, culverts and ponds, and sewer main 

construction so that these projects are within existing rights-of-way or easements or on the subject 

real estate. Developer agrees to donate such rights-of-way or easements to City. 

8. Developer will be required to dedicate all rights-of-way and easements needed for public roads 

within the subject real estate. The road must have been constructed in a manner that meets all City 

requirements in order for City to accept the road as a public road. If City accepts dedication of the 

road, City will assume future maintenance of the public road. 

9. City agrees to complete the construction of all improvements as set forth in this section within three 

hundred sixty-five (365) days after the needed rights-of-way have been identified. 

PROJECT FINANCING 

I. The City, for and on behalf of the District, will issue Economic Development Revenue Bonds (the 

"Bonds") to be purchased by Developer, or such other individuals or entities designated by 

Developer, to fund the infrastructure projects listed in paragraph 2 of this section below. The 

financial parameters of the Bond are set forth in paragraph 6 of this section below. The Bonds will 

be paid by the District solely from TIF revenues generate_d by a separate allocation area to be 

comprised of the subject real estate (the "New Allocation Area"). If the TIP revenues generated 

by improvements in the New Allocation Area are insufficient to make the Bond payments, the 

City's payments to Developer will be delayed until there are sufficient TIF revenues generated 

from the New Allocation Area to make such payments. City will not pay a penalty or any additional 

interest to Developer as long as no TIF revenues generated from the New Allocation Area are used 

by City for any purpose other than the repayment of the Bonds. 

2. The following infrastructure projects are to be paid from Bond proceeds which will be reimbursed 

from TIF revenues solely generated by the New Allocation Area for the following projects: 

05282021 

a) College Avenue roadway improvements including a ten-foot (1 O') sidewalk, curbs, road 

resurfacing, and road widening and repair. 

7 



b) College Avenue sanitary sewer extension beginning at the end of the sanitary sewer west 

of the Tract 3 real estate, and extending to the east boundary of the subject real estate. 

c) Construction of public sanitary sewer mains within the subject real estate. 

d) Construction of public water mains within the subject real estate. 

e) Construction of public roads within the subject real estate. 

t) Excess water main cost, but only if TTF revenues from the New Allocation Area remain 

after paying for items a) through e). 

J. In addition to the projects to be funded by Bond proceeds, City agrees to commit TIF revenues 

from the Southeast Allocation Area or a consolidated allocation area that includes the current 

Southeast Allocation Area to pay for real estate acquisition and to bid and construct the following 

infrastructure improvements: 

a) Flood control routing, including side ditches, culve1ts, and ponds on the subject real estate 

and on real estate located to the south and east of the College Avenue improvements. 

b) A water main loop from College Ave to County Road 31 to Kercher Road (County Road 

38) to Century Drive. 

4. These projects do not include the construction of the sanitary sewer building lines and water 

building lines that connect buildings on the subject real estate to public water mains and sewei

mains. 

5. Preliminary cost estimates for these infrastructure projects, which will be funded by proceeds of 

the Bonds are not to exceed Nine Million Two Hundred Eight Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-Five 

Dollars ($9,208,565). 

6. Based upon the TIF projections completed by Baker Tilly Municipal Advisors, LLC, Developer's 

committed investment will provide capacity to issue the Bonds in an aggregate principal amount 

that will generate net proceeds of Nine Million Four Hundred Forty-Five Thousand Dollars 

($9,445,000) that will be available to fund the projects listed in paragraph 2 of this section above. 

All TIF revenues generated from the New Allocation Area will be used to repay Bonds. The Bonds 

will have a final maturity no later than twenty (20) years after the date of issuance of the Bonds, 

and will bear interest at an interest rate of four percent (4%) per annum. 

7. If the net Bond proceeds are not used entirely for the projects in paragraph 2 above, the unused 

Bond proceeds will be used on the project in paragraph 3, subparagraph a) above (flood control 

routing) or subparagraph b) above (water main loop). 

8. All TIF revenues generated from the New Allocation Area will be used exclusively for payment of 

debt service on the Bonds until the Bonds are paid in full. 

05282021 8 



9. In addition to TJF revenues generated from development in the New Allocation Area, twenty-five 

percent (25%) of TJF revenues generated by future industrial development within the area east of 

the railroad to County Road 31, south to Kercher Road and then west to Century Drive will be used 

for Bond repayment if such new development substantially benefits from the infrastructure 

improvements funded-by the Bond issued by City and purchased by Developer. 

10. City agrees to complete the construction of all improvements set forth in this section within five 

hundred forty-five (545) days after the needed rights-of-way have been identified unless a shorter 

period of time is noted elsewhere in this agreement. 

DEVELOPER'S STATE TAX CREDITS 

Developer is submitting an application for State tax credits through the Indiana Economic 

Development Corporation (IEDC). City supports Developer's application. Developer's commitment to 

proceed with project is contingent upon Developer receiving Six Million Dollars ($6,000,000) in eligible 

tax credits. 

REAL ESTATE TAX APPEALS 

Developer, and any successor in interest of the subject real estate, agrees that it will not appeal 

any tax assessment for any parcel of the subject real estate until the Economic Development Revenue 

Bond is paid in full. 

FIRE HYDRANTS 

Fire hydrants shall be installed within the subject real estate by Developer as the parcels are 

developed. installation will be in accordance with plans acceptable to the Goshen Fire Department and the 

Goshen Engineering Department. The need for additional fire hydrants will be reviewed at the time that 

any additional building plans are approved. Fire hydrants will be installed at Developer's expense and will 

be maintained by Developer unless City accepts dedication of such hydrants. Developer shall provide 

sufficient easements or rights-of-way to allow for proper access to the hydrants and for proper maintenance 

of the hydrants if City accepts dedication. 

DEVELOPMENT PLANS 

1. Developer agrees to submit detailed development plans for any development on the subject real 

estate to the Goshen Planning and Zoning Department, Goshen Department of Storm Water 

Management and Goshen Engineering Department for review and approval. 

05282021 9 



2. Developer agrees to comply with all City of Goshen requirements for development within a M-1 

(Light Industrial) zoning district. The City will use its best efforts to expeditiously obtain the 

necessary approvals set forth in the prior sentence. 

INFRASTRUCTURE CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS 

The fo llowing requirements are applicable to any construction on the subject real estate: 

I . The construction of any water main, sewer main, water building line, sewer building line, or other 

appurtenant facilities, public road, private road, curb and gutter, stormwater retention or flood 

control structures shall be constructed in accordance with detailed plans and specifications 

approved in advance of construction by the Goshen City Engineer and the Goshen Board of Pub I ic 

Works and Safety. The City will use its best efforts to expeditiously obtain the necessary approvals 

set forth in the prior sentence. 

2. Upon satisfactory completion, final inspection by the City of Goshen and approval of the Goshen 

Board of Public Works and Safety, the water mains, sewer mains, public roads, flood control 

measures and stormwater retention areas wilJ be dedicated to and will be accepted by the City for 

maintenance unless otherwise provided in this agreement. At the time of dedication to the City and 

approval by the Board of Public Works and Safety, the City will assume the cost of maintenance 

of the water mains, sewer mains, public roads, flood control measures and stormwater retention 

areas. Any water building lines, sewer building lines, private roads or private drives constructed 

will not be dedicated to City and shall remain the property of Developer who shall continue to be 

responsible for the maintenance of such private infrastructure. 

3. At the time of any dedication to City, all materials and facilities dedicated to City shall be clear of 

all liens and encumbrances. Developer shall convey good and merchantable title to all physical 

components of public infrastructure constructed which is to be dedicated to City. 

4. City and Developer each agree to execute all deeds, easements, rights-of-way or other documents 

that are reasonably necessary, desirable or appropriate to further the projects and to provide for the 

future maintenance of the City' s water mains, sewer mains, appurtenant facilities, public roadways 

or other public infrastructure. 

5. City agrees to supply the subject real estate with water service and sewer service if Developer 

constructs, at Developer's own expense, water building lines and/or sewer building lines from the 

respective buildings to the City's water main and/or sewer main. Such building lines must be 

constructed in accordance with specifications approved by the Goshen City Engineer. The costs 

for constructing any such water building lines and/or sewer building lines by Developer on their 

05282021 10 



parcels will be paid by Developer. Maintenance of these water building lines and sewer building 

lines will be at Developer's expense 

6. Any building constructed on the subject real estate after the execution of this agreement shall be 

connected to the City's sewei• system and water system at the expense of the owner of such real 

estate at the time of the construction of the building. 

7. The parties acknowledge that construction of the water main and sewer main projects are dependent 

upon the cooperation of the railroad to permit boring under the railroad. The timeliness of the 

railroad approval is not in control of either City or Developer. The parties agree to cooperate with 

each other to obtain the needed permits to bore under the railroad tracks. Any railroad delay in 

granting such permits may affect the parties' intended time frames. 

CHARGES FOR WATER AND SEWER SERVICES 

The City reserves the right to modify the charges for water service and sewer service to all parcels 

during the term of this agreement or any extensions. It is agreed that such water rates and sewer rates shall 

be modified in accordance with the statutory procedures for the modification of water rates and sewer rates. 

The rates charged for the water and sewer services to the subject real estate by any amended water or sewer 

rate ordinance will be the same charges that apply to any other similarly situated property in the City of 

Goshen. 

ANNEXATION AND EASEMENTS 

1. The Tract 3 real estate is in the current corporate boundaries of the City of Goshen and is part of 

the Lippert/Dierdorff Economic Development Area and the Lippert/Dierdorff Tax Increment 

Financing Djstrict. The Tract 3 real estate will be removed from the Lippert/Dierdorff Tax 

Increment Finance District and placed in the New Allocation Area. 

2. Developer agrees to consent to City annexing the Tract 1 real estate and Tract 2 real estate and 

adding the Tract 1 real estate and Tract 2 real estate to the New Allocation Area that includes the 

Tract 3 real estate. 

3. City agrees to commence the annexation proceedings and the process to add the Tract 1 real estate 

and Tract 2 real estate to the New Allocation Area as set forth above as soon as Developer has 

commenced plans for construction of buildings on the Tract l real estate and/or Tract 2 real estate. 

4. The annexation and adding the parcels to the New Allocation Area must commence prior to starting 

building construction on either the Tract I real estate or Tract 2 real estate. 

5. City agrees to begin the annexation process as soon as Developer instructs City to add the Tract 1 

real estate and Tract 2 real estate to the above-referenced New Allocation Area. 

05282021 11 



6. City agrees to begin the process to add Tract 1 real estate and Tract 2 real estate to the New 

Allocation Area as soon as the annexation process is commenced. 

7. Developer agrees to commence the construction of two new manufacturing buildings and one 

lamination building within the New Allocation Area by December 31, 2021 and to complete such 

construction by December 2022. 

8. In the event that any rights-of-way or easements to be donated to the City pursuant to this 

Agreement for the Tract 1, Tract 2 or Tract 3 real estate and the Developer does not own all or any 

portion of said tracts of real estate, Ryan Thwaits and/or Larry Schrock agree to donate any such 

rights-of-way or easements for all or any portion of the Tract 1, Tract 2 or Tract 3 real estate held 

by Ryan Th waits and/or Larry Schrock. 

WAIVER OF RIGHT TO REMONSTRATE AGAINST ANNEXATION 

Developer and their successors in title and any person tapping into any of the water or sewer mains 

constructed as a result of this agreement, waive and release any right to remonstrate against any pending or 

future annexation of any of the affected real estate. This waiver is given in consideration for the right to 

connect into the water mains and/or sewer mains constructed and the right to receive City water and sewer 

services. 

:MISCELLANEOUS 

1. Developer agrees that upon the sale of any portion of any of the subject real estate, Developer will 

advise the purchaser in writing of this agreement prior to the sale. Any successor in interest to the 

subject real estate assumes the obligations set forth in this agreement. 

2. If it becomes necessary for any party to this agreement to institute litigation in order to enforce or 

construe the terms and provisions of this agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover 

its reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred in such litigation from the non-prevailing party. 

3. No remedy conferred upon any party to this agreement is intended to be exclusive of any other 

remedy provided or permitted by law, but each remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition 

to any other remedy given under the terms of this agreement or existing at law or equity. Every 

power or remedy provided in this agreement may be exercised concurrently or independently and 

as often as deemed appropriate. 

4. This agreement shaJl be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Indiana. 

05282021 

The venue for any action brought by any party relating to or arising out of this agreement shall be 

in Elkhart County, State of Indiana. 

12 



5. This agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties to this agreement and 

for all purposes shall be deemed a covenant running with the land to remain in full force and effect 

until all obligations under the agreement have been completed. The subject real estate will be 

governed by the ordinances of the City of Goshen. 

6. This agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties respecting the matters set forth. 

7. The City of Goshen represents that it has received the approval of this development agreement from 

the Goshen Common Council. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this agreement as of the dates set forth below. 

City of Goshen, Indiana 

Goshen Common Council 

By Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor and Presiding 
Officer 

Date: 

Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety 

By Jeremy P. Sh1tsman, Mayor 

Date: _________ _ _____ _ 

Goshen Redevelopment Commission 

· By Vince Turner, President 

Date: ______________ _ 

0528202! 

Last Dance, LLC 

By: 

Date:---~_/ ;;J._/ :z______.__\ __ _ 

13 



5. This agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties to this agreement and 

for all purposes shall be deemed a covenant running with the land to remain in full force and effect 

until all obligations under the agreement have been completed. The subject real estate wil l be 

governed by the ordinances of the City of Goshen. 

6. This agreement contains the entire agreement between the patties respecting the matters set fo rth. 

7. The C ity of Goshen represents that it has received the approval of this development agreement from 

the Goshen Common Council. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the patties have executed this agreement as of the dates set forth below. 

City of Goshen, Indiana Last Dance, LLC 

By: Ryan Thwaits, Member 

Date: ---=J~L!ou-o_e,.__.)....._b_, _'2[) ___ 2,_J 
Date: ______ _________ _ 

lY, 2-02\ 

By Vince Turner, President 

Date: ~ ·l r{~ 

05282021 13 



STATE OF INDIANA 

COUNTY OF e,u..~r 
) 
) SS: 
) 

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally appeared Ryan 
Thwaits, as a Member of Last Dance, LLC, being known to me or whose identity has been authenticated 
by me to be the person who acknowledged the execution of the foregoing instrument as the person's 
voluntary act for the purpose stated therein. 

Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this 2 ~ of 

-- - - - - - -. - - -

I 

JOH BART MILLER 
Notary Public - Seal . 

Elkhart County . State of Indiana 
Commission Humber HP0723868 

My Commission Expires Dec 2, 2027 

STATE OF INDIANA 

COUNTY OF ELKHART 

) 
) SS: 
) 

• 

2021. 

Pri Name: °" \-- M .._\\.,.._ 
otary Public of Elle)_-. County, Indiana 

My Commission Expires: ~ ,z_- '-- ~ -z_ r 
Commission Number: k,)/J () 71- 3 ~ '-~ 

Before me, the undersigned Nota1y Public in and for said County and State, personally appeared Jeremy P. 
Stutsman, Mayor and Presiding Officer, on behalf of the Goshen Common Council and City of Goshen, 
Indiana, being known to me or whose identity has been authenticated by me to be the person who 
acknowledged the execution of the foregoing instrument as the person 's voluntary act for the purpose stated 
therein. 

Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this fu_ day of 

05282021 

SHANNON MARKS 
Notary Public 

SEAL 
State of Indiana 

My Commission Expires May 17, 2024 
County of Residence Elkhart 
Commission Number 685467 

14 

\)unQ.. , 2021. J 
~b/l1JY1jy( < l/YltJvr;}I(;_ 

Pripted Name: ____________ _ 
Notary Public of _____ County, Indiana 
My Commission Expires: _______ _ 
Commission Number: _________ _ 



STATE OF INDIANA ) 
) SS: 

COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 

Before me, the undersigned Notaiy Public in and for said County and State, personally appeared Jeremy P. 
Stutsman, Mayor, on behalf of the Goshen Board of Public Works and Safety and C ity of Goshen, Indiana, 
being known to me or whose identity has been authenticated by me to be the person who acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing instrument as the person's voluntaty act for the purpose stated therein. 

Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this 14th day of June, 202 1. 

SHANNON MARKS 
Notary Public 

SEAL 
State of Indiana 

My Commission Expires May 17, 2024 
County of Residence Elkhart 
Commission Number 685467 

Pri ted Name: Shannon Marks 
Notary Public of Elkhart County, Indiana 
My Commission Expires: May 17, 2024 
Commission Number: N~P~0~68=5~4~6~7 ____ _ 

STATE OF INDIANA ) 
) SS: 

COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally appeared Vince 
Turner, President on behalf of the Goshen Redevelopment Commission and C ity of Goshen, Indiana, being 
known to me or whose identity has been authenticated by me to be the person who acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing instrument as the person' s voluntary act for the purpose stated therein. 

Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this 8th day of June, 20~2 

CARLA J. NEWCOMER ~ 
Notary Public Printed Name. Carla J. Newcomer 

SEAL Notaty Public of Elkhart County, Indiana 
State of Indiana 

My commission Expires June 22, 2025 My Commission Expires: June 22, 2025 
County of Residence Elkhart Commission Number: N P0701987 
Commission Number 701987 ~~~~~-----

This instrument was prepared by Larry A. Barkes, Goshen City Attorney, Attorney No. 3568-20, City of 
Goshen Legal Depattment, 204 East Jefferson Street, Suite 2, Goshen, Indiana 46528, (574) 533-9536. 

I affmn, under the penalties for petjrny, that I have taken reasonable cai·e to redact each social security 
number in this document, unless required by law (Larry A. Barkes). 

05282021 15 



EXlllBIT A - DEVELOPMENT AREA 

05282021 16 



EXHIBIT B - DEVELOPMENT AREA DESCRIBED 

TRACT 1 (Parcel Numbers 20-1 l-13-200-005.000-014 and 20-11-13-400-006.000-014) 

A PART OF THE NORTHEAST AND SOUTHEAST QUARTERS OF SECTION 13, TOWNSIDP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, SURVEYED 
BY RONNIE L. JUSTICE, REGISTRATION NUMBER 80900004, WITH ADV AN CED LAND 
SURVEYING OF NORTHERN INDIANA INC., AS SHOWN ON PROJECT NUMBER 201101 
CERTIFIED ON NOVEMBER 3, 2020, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS (BEARINGS IN THIS DESCRIPTION ARE BASED ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 HAVING A BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 
MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST); CO:Ml\1ENCING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSIDP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITH 
THE EAST LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO RYAN THWA ITS AND LARRY 
SCHROCK IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-11865, A DISTANCE OF 320.49 FEET TO 
A #5 REBAR FOUND AT THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE NORTH 
00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITH SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 2327.58 FEET 
TO A THREE QUARTER INCH REBAR FOUND AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 AND BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A 
TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO VERNON AND WANDA SCHLABACH IN ELKHART COUNTY 
DEED RECORD 2017-07742; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 28 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST, 
WITHTHEEASTLINEOF SAID SCHLABACH LAND,ADISTANCEOF732.81 FEET TOA THREE 
QUARTER INCH REBAR AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED 
TO DANA L. MJLLER IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 93003206; THENCE NORTH 89 
DEGREES 29 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST WITH SAID MILLERLAND, A DISTANCE OF 1607.17 
FEET TO A REBAR; THENCE SOUTH 03 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 28 SECONDS WEST, WITH SAID 
MILLER LAND, A DISTANCE OF 739.44 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP STAMPED BRADS-KO 
ON THE NORTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO SPRINGVIEW LAND HOLDINGS, 
LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2019-06807; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 
MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 247.27 
FEET TO A REBAR; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 25 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 2021.27 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP STAMPED 
PCB AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO MOLAR 
MANAGEMENT, LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-22405; THENCE .SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID LAND, A 
DISTANCE OF 626.09 FEET TO A SURVEY MARK SPIKE ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS WEST, 
ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHEAST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 472.08 FEET TO 
A SURVEY MARK SPIKE AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED 
TOTRI-COUNTYLANDTRUSTEECORPORATIONINELKHART COUNTYDEEDRECORD2013-
06108; THIENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 20 MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST WITH THE EAST LINE 
OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 320.49 FEET TO A #5 REBAR AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER 
OF SAID LAND; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 845.97 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF 
THIS DESCRIPTION, CONTAINING 100.36 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

05282021 17 



TRACT 2 (Parcel Numbers 20-1 l-24-201-001.000-014, 20-11-24-126-011.000-014 and 20-11-24-201-
002.000-014) 

PART OF THE NORTHWEST AND NORTHEAST QUARTERS OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, SURVEYED 
BY RONNIE L. JUSTICE, REGISTRATION NUMBER 80900004, WITH ADVANCED LAND 
SURVEYING OF NORTHERN INDIANA INC., AS SHOWN ON PROJECT NUMBER 210101 
CERTIFIED ON JANUARY 7, 2021, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS (BEARINGS IN THIS DESCRIPTION ARE BASED ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24 HA YING A BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 
39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST); BEGINNING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE 
NORTH QUARTER CORNER OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST; THENCE 
NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 1320.73 FEET TO A MAG NAIL 
AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO THE STANLEY D. 
MILLER REVOCABLE TRUST DATED THE 18TH DAY OF JULY 2007; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 25 SECONDS EAST WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID MILLER LAND, A 
DISTANCE OF 1979.96 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP (JUSTICE 900004) ON THE NORTH RIGHT 
OF WAY OF THE NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY; THENCE NORTH 56 DEGREES 
31 MINUTES 53 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY WITH THE NORFOLK 
SOUTHERNRAILWAYCOMPANY,ADISTANCEOF2857.74FEETTOAREBARFOUNDATTHE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO KATHLEEN S. EMERY IN 
ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2014-08913; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 43 MINUTES 38 
SECONDS WEST, WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID EMERY LAND, A DISTANCE OF 164.93 FEET 
TO A REBAR AT THE SOUTHWEST COMER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO DAVID 
AND SARAH LAMBRIGHT IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-05774; THENCE NORTH 
89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES IO SECONDS EAST, WITH THE SOUTH lINE OF SAID LAMBRIGHT 
LAND, THE SOUTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO REESE SCHMUCKER IN 
ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2018-05528 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND 
CONVEYED TO SIX MILE LAKE INVESTMENTS, LLC IN DEED RECORD 2016-13337, A 
DISTANCE OF 314.95 FEET TO A REBAR AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SIX MILE 
LAKE INVESTMENTS, LLC PROPERTY; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 25 
SECONDS WEST, WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 224.93 FEET (225 
FEET RECORDED) TO A MAG NAIL ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 24; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 30 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 729 .93 FEET TO THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION, CONTAINING 62.69 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

05282021 18 



TRACT 3 (Parcel Numbers 20-ll-13-300-001.000-015, 20-11-14-426-002.000-015 and 20-11-14-478-
001.000-015) 

Parcel 1 (Parcel Number 20-ll-13-300-001.000-015) 

The Southwest Quarter of Section 13, Township 36 North, Range 6 East, Elkhart Township, Elkhart 
County, Indiana. 

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion lying South and West of the New York Central, containing 5 
acres, more or less. 

ALSO EXCEPTING the following described tract: Commencing at a stone marking the Southwest corner 
of Section 13, Township 36 No1th, Range 6 East, Elkhart County, Indiana; thence South 89 degrees 47 
minutes East, along the South line of said Section, 1000.9 feet to an iron stake on the East right-of-way line 
of the New York Central Railroad, said iron stake being the place of beginning of this description; thence 
continuing South 89 degrees 4 7 minutes East, along the South line of said Section 13, 317 .9 feet to an iron 
stake at the Southeast corner of the West half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 13; thence North along 
the East line of said West half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 13, 462.6 feet to an iron take; thence 
West 1001.1 feet to an iron stake on the aforesaid East right-of-way of the New York Central Railroad; 
thence South 55 degrees 58 minutes East along said East right-of-way line, 824.4 feet to the place of 
beginning. 

Parcel 2 (Parcel Number 20-11-14-426-002.000-015) 

A part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14, Township 36 North, Range 6 East, 2nd Principal Meridian, 
Elkhart Township, Elkhart County, Indiana, being part of a tract of land conveyed to Elkhart County 4-H 
and Agricultural Exposition, Inc., as described in Document Number 2011-013502 in the Office of the 
Elkha11 County Recorder, and being more particularly described as follows: 

Commencing at the Southeast comer of said Section 14; thence North O degrees 7 minutes 2 seconds East 
along the East line of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14, a distance of 1323 .45 feet to the Nmtheast corner 
of land conveyed to Stephen L. Fidler, Kelly J. Webb, and Karen M. Fidler as described in Deed Record 
428, page 875, and also being the place of beginning of this description; thence continuing North O degrees 
7 minutes 2 seconds East along the East line of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14 a distance of 1297.1 
feet, more or less, to the center of Rock Run Creek; thence meandering Southwesterly along the centerline 
thread of Rock Run Creek, a distance of 400 feet more or less to a point which lies 298 feet perpendicular 
to the East line of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14; thence South O degrees 7 minutes 2 seconds West 
parallel with and 298 feet equidistant from the East line of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14, a distance 
of 1143.75 feet to the North line of said Fidler, Webb, and Fidler parcel; thence North 89 degrees 49 minutes 
4 seconds East along said North line a distance of 298 feet to the place of beginning. 

Parcel 3 (Parcel Number 20-11-14-478-001.000-015) 

A pait of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14, Township 36 North, Range 6 East, Elkhart County, Indiana, 
more particularly described as follows: 

Commencing at a stone in the centerline of County Road Number 36, said stone marking the Southeast 
corner of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14, Township 36 North, Range 6 East; thence due North on an 
assumed bearing along the East line of the Southeast Quaiter of Section 14, 671.9 feet to an iron stake on 
the North right of way line of the New York Central Railroad and the place of beginning of this description; 
thence continuing along said described beai·ing, 651.95 feet; thence South 89 degrees 45 minutes West, 
958.8 feet to an iron stake on the North right of way line of the New York Central Railroad; thence South 
55 degrees 57 minutes East along the North line of the New York Central Railroad, 1157.87 feet to the 
place of beginning of this description. 

05282021 19 



EXCEPTING THEREFROM the following: 

A part of the Southwest Quarter of Section 13, and a part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 14, Township 
36 North, Range 6 East, 2nd Principal Meridian, Elkhart Township, Elkhart County, lndiana, and being 
part of a tract of land conveyed to Stephen L. Fidler, Kelly J. Webb, and Karen M. Fidler, as tenants in 
common, each the owner of an undivided 1/3 interest as described in Deed Record 428, page 875 in the 
Office of the Elkhart County Recorder, and being more particularly described as follows: 

Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Section 13; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes East, along 
the South line of said Section 13, a distance of 1000.9 feet to an iron stake on the Easterly right-of-way line 
of the Pennsylvania Lines, LLC (Formerly New York Central Railroad) as described in Document Number 
99-25426, said iron stake marking the Southwest comer of said Borkholder parcel; thence continuing South 
89 degrees 47 minutes East on the South line of said Section 13 and the South line of said Borkholder parcel 
a distance of 317 .9 feet to an iron stake marking the Southeast corner of said Borkholder parcel and also 
being the Southeast comer of the West half of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 13 and the place of 
beginning ofthis description; thence North along the East line of the West half of the Southwest Quarter of 
said Section 13 and the East line of said Borkholder parcel a distance of 462.6 feet to the Northeast comer 
of said Borkholder parcel; thence West along the North line of said Borkholder parcel, a distance of 1001.1 
feet to an iron stake on the Easterly right-of-way line of said Pennsylvania Lines LLC parcel; thence N01th 
55 degrees 57 minutes West along the Easterly right-of -way line of said Pennsylvania Lines LLC parcel, 
a distance of382.8 more or less to the intersection of the West line of the Southwest Quaiter of said Section 
13, said intersection also being the Southeast corner of Tract 2 of said Fidler, Webb, and Fidler parcel; 
thence continuing North 55 degrees 57 minutes West along the Easterly right-of-way line of said 
Pennsylvania Lines LLC parcel, a distance of 1154.9 feet, more or less to the intersection of the North line 
of Tract 2 of said Fidler, Webb and Fidler parcel; thence South 89 degrees 45 minutes East along the N01th 
line of Tract 2 of said Fidler, Webb and Fidler parcel, a distance of 265 .9 feet, more or less, to a point lying 
150 feet perpendicular to the Easterly right-of-way line of said Pennsylvania Lines LLC parcel; thence 
South 55 degrees 57 minutes East parallel with and 150 feet equidistant from the Easterly right-of-way line 
of said Pennsylvania Lines LLC parcel, a distance of 834 feet, more or less to the East line of Tract 2 of 
said Fidler, Webb and Fidler parcel, also being the West line of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 13; 
thence continuing South 55 degrees 57 minutes East parallel with and 150 feet equidistant from the Easterly 
right-of-way line of said Pennsylvania Lines LLC parcel, a distance of 527.5 feet, more or less, to a point 
lying 100 feet perpendicular to the North line of said Borkholder parcel; thence East parallel with and 100 
feet equidistant from the N01th line of said Borkholder parcel, a distance of 981. 7 feet, more or less, to a 
point lying 100 feet perpendicular to the Northerly extension of the East line of said Borkholder parcel; 
thence South parallel with and 100 feet equidistant from the East line and said East line extended of said 
Borkholder parcel a distance of 563 feet more or less to the South line of the Southwest Quarter of said 
Section 13; thence North 89 degrees 4 7 minutes West a distance of 100 feet, more or less, along the South 
line of the Southwest Quruter of said Section 13 to the place of beginning of this description. 

05282021 20 



05282021 

EXHIBITC 

Feb 24 21, 01 :59p Cape Canaveral Library 3218681103 p.2 

- . 
PETITION FOR ANNEXATION INTO THE CITY OF GOSHEN 

COMES NOW the undersigned, hereinafter collectively referred to as "Petitioner," and petitions 
,lie Goshen Common Cowicil to annex certain real estate located outside, but contiguous to the 
corporate limits of the City of Gostien. In support of this Petition, the Petitioner alleges and says: 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

The real estate sought for annexation into the City of Goshen, hereinafter referred to as the 
"Subject Real Est.ate", is generally located on County Road 36 east of the rail road and 
west of County Road 31 as depicted on the map attached as Exhibit A and·more particularly 
described in ExhibitB. 

At least one-eighth (J/8) or (12.5%) of the aggregate ex.temal boundaries of the Subject 
Real Estate are contiguous with the corporate limits of tbe City of Goshen. 

Petitioner represents one hundred percent (100%) of the owners ofthe Subject Real Estate. 

Petitioner requests that the Goshen Comm.on. CoU!'lcil adopt an 9rdinance_ to annex the 
Subject Real Estate described in this petition into the City of Goshen. 

Ryan Thwaits 

Date: d ·J ~ .. ,<1_) 

OJ_ c,, ~'._ 
Douglas W. Thwaits 

Date: L - 7.. ':I - 7- / 

/ "-::--n . il ll i<A-\ L. . 'I \l,\A.1-r-, 
Nancy L. Thwru)s 

Date: o>-J.;;1-y ',;ti 

21 



Exhibit A 

.. -

- :~.-- .~.---~_.:t_'.:· __ ,·._-.• _~=: __ ,_~_~.'-~.·.i_~_{ f 
~ _- \~1{1t. 

·, ·' TRAfT1 
It' I 
'. 

,-. 
; -. , ... 

05282021 22 



05282021 

Exhibit B 

TRACT 1 (Parcel 20-11-13-200-005.000-014 and 20-l l-13-400-006.000-014) 

A PART OF THE NORTHEAST AND SOUTHEAST QUARTERS OF SECTION 13, 
TOWNSHIP·36 NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, 
INDIANA, SURVEYED BY RONNIE L. JUSTICE, REGISTRATION NUMBER 80900004, 
WITH ADVANCED LAND SURVEYING OF NORTHERN IN DIANA INC., AS SHOWN ON 
PROJECT NUMBER 201101 CERTIFIED ON NOVEMBER 3, 2020, AND BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS (BEARINGS IN THIS DESCRIPTION ARE 
BASED ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 
HA YING A BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST): 
COMMENCING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE SOUTHWEST CORNER 
OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSIIlP 36 NORTH, RANGE 6 
EAST; THENCENORTII 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITH THE EAST 
LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO RYAN THWAITS AND LARRY SCHROCK 
IN ELK.HART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-11865, A DISTANCE OF 320.49 FEET TO A 
#5 REBAR FOUND AT THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE 
NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITII SAID LINE, A DISTANCE 
OF 2327.58 FEET TO A THREE QUARTER INCH REBAR FOUND AT THE NORTIIWEST 
CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 AND BEING THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO VERNON AND WANDA 
SCHLABACH IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2017-07742; THENCE NORTII 00 
DEGREES 28 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID 
SCHLABACH LAND, A DISTANCE OF 732.81 FEET TO A THREE QUARTER INCH 
REBAR AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO DANA 
L. MILLER IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD- 93003206; THENCE NORTH 89 
DEGREES 29 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST WITII SAID MILLER LAND, A DISTANCE 
OF 1607.17 FEET TO A REBAR; THENCE SOUTH 03 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 28 SECONDS 
WEST, WITH SAID MILLER LAND, A DISTANCE OF 739.44 FEET TO A REBAR WITII 
CAP STAMPED BRADS-KO ON THE NORTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED 
TO SPRINGVIEW LAND HOLDINGS, LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2019-
06807; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 247.27 FEET TO A REBAR; TIIENCE 
SOUTH 00 DEGREES 25 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
LAND, A DISTANCE OF 2021.27 FEET TO A REBAR WITII CAP ST AMPED PCB AT THE 
NORTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO MOLAR 
MANAGEMBNT, LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-22405; THENCE 
.SOUTH 00 DEGREES 42 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST, WITII THE WEST LINE OF SAID 
LAND, A DISTANCE OF 626.09 FEET TO A SURVEY MARK SPIKE ON THE SOUTH LINE 
OF SAID SOUTHEAST QUARTER; TIIENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 
SECONDS WEST, ALONG THE SOUTH L1NE OF SAID SOUTHEAST QUARTER, A 
DISTANCE OF 472.08FEETTO A SURVEYMARK.SPIKEATTIIB SOUTHEAST CORNER 
OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO TRI-COUNTY LAND TRUSTEE CORPORATION 
IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2013-06108; THENCE NORTII 00 DEGREES 20 
MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 
320.49 FEET TO A #5 REBAR AT TIIE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID LAND; TIIENCE 
SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE NORTH LINE OF 

23 



05282021 

· SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 845.97 FEET TO THE POINT OF .BEGINNING OF THIS 
DESCRIPTION, CONTAINING 100.36 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 

TRACT 2 (20-11-24-201-001.000-014, 20-11-24-126-0l1.000-014 and 20-11-24-201-002.000-
014) 

Part of the Northwest and Northeast Quarters of Section 24, Township 36 North, Range 6 East, 
Elkhart Township, Elkhart County, Indiana, surveyed by Ronnie L. Justice, Registration Nwnber 
80900004, with Advanced Land Surveying of Northern Indiana Inc., as shown on Project Number 
2HH01 certified on January 7, 2021, and being more particularly described as follows (bearings 
in this description are based on the north line of the Northeast Quarter of said Section 24 having a 
bearing of N orth 89 degrees 39 minutes 12 seconds East): Beginning ot a Harrison momllllcnt 
mru·king the North QuRrter comer of Section 24, Township 36 North, Range 6 East; thence North 
89 degrees 39 minutes 12 seconds Enst, along the north line of the Northeast Quarter of said 
Section 24, a distance of 1320.73 feet to a mag nail at the northwest corner of a tract of land 
conveyed to the Stanley D. Miller Revocable Trust dated the 18th day of July 2007; thence South 
00 _degrees 42 minutes 25 seconds East with the west line of said Miller land, a distance of 
1979 .96 feet to a re bar with cap (Justice 900004) on the north right of way of the Norfolk Southern 
Railway Company; thence North 56 degrees 31 minutes 53 seconds West, with the north right of 
way with the Norfolk Southern Railway Company, a distance of 2857 .74 feet to a rebar found.at 
the southeast corner of a tract of land conveyed to Kathleen S. Emery in Elkhart County Deed 
Record 2014-08913; thence North 00 degrees 43 minutes 38 seconds West, with the east line of 
said Emery land, a distance of 164.93 feet to a rebar at the southwest comer of a tract of land 
conveyed to David and Sarah Lambright in Elkhart County Deed Record 2020-05774; thence 
North 89 degrees 40 minutes IO seconds East, with the south line of said Lambright land, the south 
line of a tract ofland conveyed to Reese Schmucker in Elkhart County Deed Record 2018-05528 
and the south line of a tract of land conveyed to Six Mile Lake Investments, LLC in Deed Record 
2016-13337, a distance of 314.95 feet to 11 rebar at the southeast comer of the Six Mile Lake 
Inveslments, LLC property; thence North 00 degrees 54 minutes 25 seconds West, with the east 
line of said land, a distance of224.93 feet (225 feet recorded) to amog nail on the north line of the 
Northwest Quarter of said Section 24; thence North 89 degrees 40 minutes 30 seconds East, along 
the north line of said Northwest Quarter, a distance of 729 .93 feet to the point of beginning of this 
description, containing 62.69 acres, more or less. 

24 



1 

ORDINANCE 5090 

County Road 36 Annexation 

WHEREAS pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-4-3-5.1, one hundred percent (100%) of the landowners have 
filed a Petition for Annexation into the City of Goshen and requested the Goshen Common Council adopt 
an ordinance to annex the real estate as identified on the map attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A, 
hereinafter referred to as the "Annexation Area." 

WHEREAS at least one-fourth (1/4) of the aggregate external boundaries of the Annexation Area are 
contiguous with the corporate limits of the City of Goshen. 

WHEREAS the Annexation Area is or will be zoned commercial, business or industrial uses. 

WHEREAS a written fiscal plan and policy has been developed for the Annexation Area and adopted by 
resolution of the Goshen Common Council. 

WHEREAS pursuant to notice given, the Goshen Common Council conducted a public hearing in which 
all interested parties were given the opportunity to testify on the proposed annexation. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Goshen Common Council that: 

SECTION 1 Annexation Area Described; Acreage 

(A) The real estate generally located along both the north and south sides of County Road 36, west of
County Road 31 and east of the railroad as identified on the map attached to this ordinance as
Exhibit A, and more particularly described in Exhibit B, is annexed to the City of Goshen, Indiana
and included within the City’s corporate boundaries.  The real estate depicted in Exhibit A and
described in Exhibit B shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Annexation Area.”

(B) The Annexation Area also includes any public highway and rights-of-way of the public highway
that are contiguous to the Annexation Area to the extent required by Indiana Code § 36-4-3-2.5.
Such public highways include County Road 36.

(C) The total acreage of the Annexation Area is approximately 163 acres, more or less.



2 

SECTION 2 Zoning 

The Annexation Area will be zoned as M-1 Industrial District (Light Industrial) upon the effective date of 
annexation into the City of Goshen. 

SECTION 3 Council District 

The Annexation Area is assigned to Goshen City Council District Five. 

SECTION 4 Effective Date 

The effective date of the annexation of the real estate described in Section 1 shall be at least thirty (30) days 
after the adoption of the annexation ordinance and publication of notice, and upon the filing and recording 
of the ordinance pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-4-3-22(a). 

SECTION 5 Filing and Recording of Ordinance 

This ordinance shall be filed with the Auditor of Elkhart County, the Circuit Court Clerk of Elkhart County, 
the Board of Registration of Elkhart County, the Office of the Secretary of State, and the Office of Census 
Data established by Indiana Code § 2-5-1.1-12, and recorded in the Office of the Elkhart County Recorder 
pursuant to Indiana Code § 36-4-3-22. 

[Continued on next page.] 



3 

EXHIBIT A 

County Road 36 Annexation Area Map 

Tract 
l 

t 



4 

EXHIBIT B 

County Road 36 Annexation Area Described 

TRACT 1 (Parcel Numbers 20-1 l-13-200-005.000-014 and 20-11-13-400-006.000-014) 

A PART OF THE NORTHEAST AND SOUTHEAST QUARTERS OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, SURVEYED 
BY RONNIE L. JUSTICE, REGISTRATION NUMBER 80900004, WITH ADVANCED LAND 
SURVEYING OF NORTHERN INDIANA INC., AS SHOWN ON PROJECT NUMBER 201101 
CERTIFIED ON NOVEMBER 3, 2020, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS (BEARINGS IN THIS DESCRIPTION ARE BASED ON THE SOUTH LINE OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 HAVING A BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 
MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST); COMMENCING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE 
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 13, TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITH 
THE EAST LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO RYAN THWAITS AND LARRY 
SCHROCK IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-11865, A DISTANCE OF 320.49 FEET TO 
A #5 REBAR FOUND AT THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE NORTH 
00 DEGREES 22 MINUTES 23 SECONDS WEST WITH SAID LINE, A DISTANCE OF 2327.58 FEET 
TO A THREE QUARTER INCH REBAR FOUND AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 13 AND BEING THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A 
TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO VERNON AND WANDA SCHLABACH IN ELKHART COUNTY 
DEED RECORD 2017-07742; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 28 MINUTES 34 SECONDS WEST, 
WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID SCHLABACH LAND, A DISTANCE OF 732.81 FEET TO A THREE 
QUARTER INCH REBAR AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED 
TO DANA L. MILLER IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 93003206; THENCE NORTH 89 
DEGREES 29 MINUTES 51 SECONDS EAST WITH SAID MILLER LAND, A DISTANCE OF 1607.17 
FEET TO A REBAR; THENCE SOUTH 03 DEGREES 14 MINUTES 28 SECONDS WEST, WITH SAID 
MILLER LAND, A DISTANCE OF 739.44 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP STAMPED BRADS-KO 
ON THE NORTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO SPRINGVIEW LAND HOLDINGS, 
LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2019-06807; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 40 
MINUTES 59 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE NORTH LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 247.27 
FEET TO A REBAR; THENCE SOUTH 00 DEGREES 25 MINUTES 47 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE 
WEST LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 2021.27 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP STAMPED 
PCB AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO MOLAR 
MANAGEMENT, LLC IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-22405; THENCE .SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID LAND, A 
DISTANCE OF 626.09 FEET TO A SURVEY MARK SPIKE ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID 
SOUTHEAST QUARTER; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS WEST, 
ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SOUTHEAST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 472.08 FEET TO 
A SURVEY MARK SPIKE AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED 
TO TRI-COUNTY LAND TRUSTEE CORPORATION IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2013-
06108; THIENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 20 MINUTES 44 SECONDS WEST WITH THE EAST LINE 
OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 320.49 FEET TO A #5 REBAR AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER 
OF SAID LAND; THENCE SOUTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 16 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 845.97 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF 
THIS DESCRIPTION, CONTAINING 100.36 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 



5 

TRACT 2 (Parcel Numbers 20-l l-24-201-001.000-014, 20-11-24-126-011.000-014 and 20-11-24-201-
002.000-014) 

PART OF THE NORTHWEST AND NORTHEAST QUARTERS OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 36 
NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST, ELKHART TOWNSHIP, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, SURVEYED 
BY RONNIE L. JUSTICE, REGISTRATION NUMBER 80900004, WITH ADVANCED LAND 
SURVEYING OF NORTHERN INDIANA INC., AS SHOWN ON PROJECT NUMBER 210101 
CERTIFIED ON JANUARY 7, 2021, AND BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS 
FOLLOWS (BEARINGS IN THIS DESCRIPTION ARE BASED ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24 HAVING A BEARING OF NORTH 89 DEGREES 
39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST); BEGINNING AT A HARRISON MONUMENT MARKING THE 
NORTH QUARTER CORNER OF SECTION 24, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 6 EAST; THENCE 
NORTH 89 DEGREES 39 MINUTES 12 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE NORTH LINE OF THE 
NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 24, A DISTANCE OF 1320.73 FEET TO A MAG NAIL 
AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO THE STANLEY D. 
MILLER REVOCABLE TRUST DATED THE 18TH DAY OF JULY 2007; THENCE SOUTH 00 
DEGREES 42 MINUTES 25 SECONDS EAST WITH THE WEST LINE OF SAID MILLER LAND, A 
DISTANCE OF 1979.96 FEET TO A REBAR WITH CAP (JUSTICE 900004) ON THE NORTH RIGHT 
OF WAY OF THE NORFOLK SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY; THENCE NORTH 56 DEGREES 
31 MINUTES 53 SECONDS WEST, WITH THE NORTH RIGHT OF WAY WITH THE NORFOLK 
SOUTHERN RAILWAY COMPANY, A DISTANCE OF 2857.74 FEET TO A REBAR FOUND AT THE 
SOUTHEAST CORNER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO KATHLEEN S. EMERY IN 
ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2014-08913; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 43 MINUTES 38 
SECONDS WEST, WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID EMERY LAND, A DISTANCE OF 164.93 FEET 
TO A REBAR AT THE SOUTHWEST COMER OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO DAVID 
AND SARAH LAMBRIGHT IN ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2020-05774; THENCE NORTH 
89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 10 SECONDS EAST, WITH THE SOUTH 1INE OF SAID LAMBRIGHT 
LAND, THE SOUTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO REESE SCHMUCKER IN 
ELKHART COUNTY DEED RECORD 2018-05528 AND THE SOUTH LINE OF A TRACT OF LAND 
CONVEYED TO SIX MILE LAKE INVESTMENTS, LLC IN DEED RECORD 2016-13337, A 
DISTANCE OF 314.95 FEET TO A REBAR AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF THE SIX MILE 
LAKE INVESTMENTS, LLC PROPERTY; THENCE NORTH 00 DEGREES 54 MINUTES 25 
SECONDS WEST, WITH THE EAST LINE OF SAID LAND, A DISTANCE OF 224.93 FEET (225 
FEET RECORDED) TO A MAG NAIL ON THE NORTH LINE OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SAID SECTION 24; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 30 SECONDS EAST, ALONG THE 
NORTH LINE OF SAID NORTHWEST QUARTER, A DISTANCE OF 729.93 FEET TO THE POINT 
OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION, CONTAINING 62.69 ACRES, MORE OR LESS. 



6 

PASSED by the Goshen Common Council on ____________________, 2021. 

Jeremy P, Stutsman, Presiding Officer 
ATTESTED: 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

PRESENTED to the Mayor of the City of Goshen on ____________________, 2021, at ________ 

a.m./p.m.

          Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on ____________________, 2021. 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 

This ordinance prepared by Shannon Marks, City of Goshen Legal Department, 204 East Jefferson Street, 
Suite 2, Goshen, Indiana 46528. 

I affirm, under the penalties for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each social security 
number in this document, unless required by law (Shannon Marks).



ORDINANCE 5092 

Additional Appropriations for the 2021 Budget 

WHEREAS, it has been determined that it is now necessary to appropriate more money 

than was appropriated in the annual budget; and 

Now, THEREFORE, be it ordained by the Common Council of the City of Goshen, Elkhart 

County, Indiana, that for the expenses of the taxing unit the following additional sums of 

money are hereby appropriated out the funds named and for the purposes specified, subject to 

the laws governing the same: 

General Fund 

101-510-07-445.0201 BD Works / Other Equipment $1,138,000 

Public Safety LOIT 
249-520-00-445.0200 PS LOIT / Motor Vehicle $300,000 

PASSED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL on the ______ day of ____________, 2021 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Presiding Officer 

ATTEST 

    Richard R. Aguirre Clerk-Treasurer 

Presented to the Mayor of the City of Goshen, Indiana, on the ______ day of ____________, 2021 

Richard R. Aguirre, Clerk-Treasurer 

APPROVED and ADOPTED on the ______ day of ____________, 2021 

Jeremy P. Stutsman, Mayor 


	Council Agenda
	Council Minutes for July 6, 2021
	Res. 2021-25 Fiscal Plan for CR 36
	Ord. 5090 CR 36 Annexation
	Ord. 5092 Additional Appropriations



